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Making A Difference
Where it matters, when it matters.

CHARITY INFORMATION, TRUSTEES AND ADVISORS

We are more than a bank. We know the
pressures charities and social purpose enterprises
face, and we address them, one by one.
We help charities grow stronger. Our tailored
approaches, expert guidance, and genuine care
allows charities to concentrate on supporting
the people who turn to them.
We look after their funds and help protect their
good name. Our experienced customer service
team offers reliable support that helps charities to
achieve what they believe in. CAF Bank supports
a community of more than 14,700 charitable
organisations that bank with purpose.
From the one-person causes to the large-scale
organisations, we are the bank charities turn to.
We believe in the power of good, and in treating
the goals of charities as our own.
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CHAIR’S STATEMENT

I would like to extend our thanks to those charities
that have turned to us to support their banking
needs, who have recognised in us an organisation
that believes in them, in their contribution and in
their resilience in the face of incredible challenges.
Reflecting on the past year as one of
the UK’s leading banks for charities
and social enterprises, it can be
challenging to take in all that we
have collectively been through and
to take stock of what we have
accomplished. Indeed, the recent
return to a greater sense of
normality can quickly overshadow
the degree to which our lives and
work were disrupted well into last
year before COVID-19 restrictions
slowly began to lift.
Janet Pope
Chair

£1.5bn
Deposits
(£1.4bn at 30 April 2021)

Those restrictions and their effect on
the wider economy had a deep and
lingering impact on the charities that
CAF Bank exists to support.
Nonetheless, I am proud to say that
the CAF team did not skip a beat in
their determination to continue to
support our customers. From opening
new accounts throughout the
pandemic to expanding our lending to
charities, helping them achieve even
more impact, we were able to provide
stability while also supporting
customers with loan repayment
holidays and business-interruption
loans where needed. These pages
detail some of the remarkable results
of those efforts, providing charities
with new premises, improved facilities,
sustainable homes for their vulnerable
service users and a host of other
innovative projects that run the length
and breadth of the UK.

£185m
Total committed loans and
advances to customers
(£164m at 30 April 2021)
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I am particularly proud that the
CAF Bank team maintained their
efforts to help charities protect
themselves from falling prey to
increasingly sophisticated fraudsters
by providing regular updates on new
threats and constant reminders that
none of us are immune to fraud.
We accomplished so much while
continuing to face considerable
headwinds from an interest rate
environment at the start of the year
unlike any we had seen before, one
that affected the income that enables
us to invest in and develop our
organisation so that it can do more to
support the charities we exist to serve.
When interest rates slowly began to
rise in December 2021, we moved
immediately to ensure our customers
saw the benefit of those changes,
increasing the interest paid on savings
accounts on the same day that the
Bank of England announced a rate
rise. The overall outcome for the year
shows CAF Bank with increased
profitability, which will be reinvested
to support the Bank’s transformation.
Our digital modernisation project
continues with the aim of delivering
a transformed experience for our
customers. Much of the planning and
design work has been completed over
the past year and we are now moving
on to building the new platform, with
implementation planned in phases
through 2023 and 2024.
Our transformation is fundamental
to fulfilling the Bank’s aspiration
to provide a new banking service
for charities in the digital age,
prioritising quality and breadth
of customer experience.

3

CHAIR’S REPORT

These cumulative efforts were richly
rewarded when the team was
awarded the Charity Times ‘Best
Charity Banking Provider’ last
September, edging out high street
giants and reminding us of the value
we offer to the charities and social
enterprises that trust us with their
banking services. That value is rooted
in what lies at the core of our purpose.
Charities have recognised in CAF Bank
a partner that shares their vision of a
fair, sustainable future for all. We
speak their language; what matters to
them matters to us.
The increases made to the Bank of
England base rate over the past year
allowed us to increase our paid
interest to customers and improves
CAF Bank’s profitability. This will be
used to fund investment in
transforming the Bank’s services for
our customers. Growth in our lending
book continues to support the
long-term diversification of the Bank
from being only a deposit taker to a
more balanced and sustainable
business model, while at the same
time increasing our support for
charities and the not-for-profit sector
with a bespoke loan service.

Our balance sheet and lending
growth plans are supported by a
strong capital base and CAF Bank
continues to be managed prudently
with a high level of liquidity in
Bank of England reserves.
I would like to extend once again our
thanks to those charities that have
turned to us to support their banking
needs, who have recognised in us an
organisation that believes in them, in
their contribution and in their
resilience in the face of incredible
challenges. During the year our
Deputy Chair and Chair of the Audit
Committee Malcolm Himsworth
retired. Malcolm was a source of wise
advice and tireless support over many
years, and we wish him a long and
happy retirement. We are pleased to
welcome David Watts as a Director
and Chair of the Audit Committee.
David brings many years’ experience
from senior roles in banking. I would
like to acknowledge the time,
expertise, and good counsel of the
entire Board, and all the staff of CAF
Bank for their tireless commitment to
the charities that we exist to support.

Janet Pope
Chair
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT

Charities are at the forefront of our
thinking, and we are resolved to continuing
to be here for them with the banking
solutions they deserve in order to deliver
on their respective missions.
As we turned the page on another
financial year at CAF Bank, the
charities we serve were once again
facing an uncertain and worrying
future. After surviving the pandemic
and then adapting to a new reality,
including rapid adoption of new
technologies, ways of working and
digital fundraising, charities found
themselves in the middle of a cost
of living crisis.

Alison Taylor
CEO
CAF Bank and Charity Services

Research conducted by CAF, our
parent charity, told us that charities
are facing a perfect storm of rising
costs for everyday expenses such as
utility bills and rent, and an increase in
demand for the services they offer as
people increasingly turn to them for
support. Add to this the effect of
inflation on regular donations and
charities find themselves being asked
to do more with significantly less.
At CAF Bank, we have worked hard
to support our charity and social
enterprise customers at every turn.
Financial sustainability is the top
challenge that charity leaders tell us
they are facing, and we are working
hard to do our part to help by
providing them with access to banking
facilities, opening more than 650 new
accounts last year, and representing
more than 14,700 charities with over
25,000 accounts. Some of these new
customers have been turned away by
High Street banks, a problem felt most
acutely by charities working in
challenging overseas countries.
As a specialist bank, we have
helped customers respond to
these crises, facilitating payments
to charities’ beneficiaries overseas
and to Disasters Emergency
Committee appeals.
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Our lending work is an extension of
that commitment, and our dedicated
team of relationship managers are
focused on finding the best solutions
for charities and social enterprises
looking to buy, develop or repurpose
property, or to refinance existing debt.
That commitment led to a record
£82m of loan facilities agreed last year,
a record for CAF Bank loan sanctions.
We have also been proactive in
raising the profile of the challenges
charities are facing, by taking a
research-led approach to increasing
government and public awareness of
these challenges, and utilising every
opportunity to remind donors of the
value of ensuring Gift Aid is added to
their donations.
Our commitment to supporting
charities extends to helping them
meet their own social and
sustainability aims and through
CAF’s investment subsidiary, CFSL,
we have recently introduced a range
of ESG-focused investment funds for
charitable investors in partnership
with abrdn.
All of this work would not be possible
without the team at CAF Bank and
we have engaged in an ongoing
programme of work to ensure their
dedication is rewarded with a
workplace that puts their wellbeing
at the forefront of how we operate.
We have introduced hybrid working
to find the best outcomes for both
our customers and our workforce,
and conducted an extensive
consultation to ensure how we
operate reflects their needs.
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We continue to offer a volunteer
day and an events programme in
celebration of International Women’s
Day and other milestone moments in
the calendar.
I am proud to note that the 2021
Banking Standards Board Employee
Survey ranked CAF Bank the highest
for leadership and above the all-firm
average in nearly all categories.
I would like to thank the rest of my
leadership team for the work that
goes in to ensuring our teams have
felt supported and valued throughout
a very busy and challenging year.
One of the main priorities of the
last year has been to continue
modernising our IT systems.
This gives us the opportunity to
provide our customers with up-todate digital services via a modern
infrastructure, and we are aiming
to launch these services next year.
My final thought is for the charities
we serve and my sincere appreciation
for the trust they place in CAF Bank.
As our modernisation project
continues, they are at the forefront
of our thinking, and we are resolved
to continuing to be here for them
with the banking solutions they
deserve in order to deliver on their
respective missions.

Alison Taylor
Chief Executive Officer,
CAF Bank and CAF Charity Services
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CAF Bank provides banking services to charities
and social purpose organisations. The Bank
offers transactional current and deposit
accounts via telephone and internet banking,
and provides lending to customers.
These activities complement a
range of services to charities
provided by the Charities Aid
Foundation (‘CAF’), the Bank’s
parent. CAF Bank is a wholly
owned subsidiary of CAF.

Strategy and Objectives
The Bank’s core principles as agreed
by the Board are as follows:

•
•
•
•
•

Providing services for small and
medium sized charities and
organisations with social purpose;
Offering services that our
customers want at a fair and
transparent cost;
Progressively realigning our lending
activity around the single aim of
supporting social purpose
organisations and projects;
Improving customer service and
customer satisfaction; and
Continuing to drive efficiency and
improvement through process
simplification and investment in
technology.

The Bank’s objective is to deliver
continual improvements to customer
service and efficiency, thereby
maintaining a financially robust and
sustainable business model. A key
aspect of meeting this objective is
through delivery of the Bank’s digital
modernisation project. This project
will combine investment in a new
banking platform with remodelled
processes and facilitate new mobile
and other customer channels.
As a subsidiary of CAF, CAF Bank aims
to make a direct contribution to the
charitable sector by donating any

residual profit to CAF each year,
after ensuring an adequate capital
position is maintained to support
customers funds and any required
capital investments.

previous year. Just as importantly,
our pipeline of sanctioned loans (but
not yet drawn), was £58m by year end,
providing a strong base for further
growth in lending.

In 2021, the Bank’s parent completed
a broader strategic review, in
conjunction with the Bank, defining
the CAF Group’s purpose, vision,
propositions and values. The key
objectives for the Bank coming out of
this review, in addition to the core
principles outlined above, are to
deliver a seamless and cohesive
service to our charity customers,
across the Bank and the broader
CAF Group.

We are grateful to our charity
customers for continuing to provide
us with a strong and stable base of
deposits and our robust funding
position underpins CAF Bank’s activity.
During the year, deposits have
increased by 8% to £1.5bn and as
soon as the Bank of England began
to increase the Base Rate we increased
the interest rates paid on our savings
accounts.

Review of the year
COVID-19 continued to have a
significant impact on the Bank until
the end of the year. To protect our
staff, and in line with Government
policy, employees continued to work
from home where possible. We have
successfully continued operations and
have maintained strong support for
our customers. In January 2022,
hybrid working was introduced and
the Bank has adapted successfully.
We are continuing to move ahead with
our new IT platform and digital
modernisation project. We are
currently in the implementation phase
of the project. Our current plan is that
the new platform and much of the
enhanced functionality for customers
will be delivered in late 2023.
Our lending book continued to grow
during the year, and we were pleased
to close the year with total committed
loans and advances to customers of
£185m compared to £164m the
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The Bank made an overall profit of
£1.6m in 2021/22. This represents an
increase from the £0.9m profit in
2020/21.
The Bank’s income has improved as
a result of the Bank of England’s
decision to increase the Base Rate
progressively up from 0.10% in
December 2021 to 0.75% in March
2022 and we have benefitted from
improvements in yields across our
treasury investments. Overall, the
Bank’s net interest income of £10.6m
is £0.8m higher than 2020/21. Net fee
income increased £0.7m to £2.1m as a
result of increased fees from
transactional activity as lockdowns
were eased.
Administrative expenses increased by
20% from £9.8m to £11.8m in 2021/22
including £1.7m (2020/21: £2.1m) in
intra-Group recharges paid to our
parent, the Charities Aid Foundation,
for the cost of shared services. Our
shared services model provides the
Bank with IT, HR, premises, marketing
and communications.
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Also included within administrative
expenses are project and IT costs
associated with our digital
modernisation programme and other
significant one-off regulatory projects.
These costs totalled £1.7m in 2021/22
compared with £0.6m in 2020/21.
Excluding the shared services
recharge and digital modernisation

and project costs, direct
administrative expenses increased by
£1.3m to £8.4m from £7.1m in 2020/21.
This reflected investments in our
current IT infrastructure and higher
staff costs, all largely related to
supporting a robust control
environment and meeting regulatory
and compliance standards.

CAF Bank contributed £1.7m to its
parent charity in 2021/22, the
contribution was for shared service
costs. In light of the increased capital
expenditure on the Bank’s new core
banking system, it was agreed that no
interest would be paid on capital
instruments, and no donation was
made to our parent.

CASE STUDY

CLYDEBANK, UK

Affordable homes in
regenerated areas
Since 2016, CAF Bank has worked with Clydebank
Housing Association (CHA), which was established by
local residents in 1985 to modernise run down
tenements in the town centre.
Today the association owns of 1,100 homes for rent, as well
as providing community facilities and hosting vital services.
Determined to increase their impact, CHA has been working
to develop over 90 new homes with more in the pipeline.
This has included the regeneration of the derelict site of
a former cinema to develop La Scala Apartments, providing
44 one and two-bedroom flats at affordable rents, including
four wheelchair-adapted homes. The project was supported
by £3.1m in grant funding from the Scottish Government
and a £2m loan from CAF Bank.
For its next project, CAF Bank provided CHA with a
£2.1m loan to help fund its acquisition of 37 flats for
social rent, scheduled for completion in 2022 as part of
the development of 146 affordable homes at Queens
Quay in Clydebank.
The development is part of a £250m regeneration project
to transform a former shipyard into a vibrant waterside
community, combining new housing, retail and leisure
facilities, offices and a state-ofthe-art health centre –
serviced by a water-sourced heating system.

“This new development will provide
people with safe, warm, accessible
homes and also deliver a boost to
the area with additional social and
economic benefits for the local
community.”
Kevin Stewart, MSP
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CAF Bank contributed £3.1m to its
parent charity in 2020/21, comprising
£1.0m of coupons paid on ‘additional
tier 1 capital’ and £2.1m contribution
to shared service costs.

Lending
Despite an extremely challenging
economic environment, committed
loans and advances to customers grew
steadily in 2021/22, increasing from
£164m as at 30 April 2021 to £185m at
30 April 2022. Within this total, loans
to charities and social housing
organisations have increased by £19m
during 2021/22, following continuing
demand from housing associations in

particular. Social housing associations
now represent 60% of our drawn
lending book by value.
We are encouraged by the lending
pipeline. As at 30 April 2022, the Bank
has £58m of loans sanctioned pending
final agreement and commitment (at
30 April 2021: £24m).
Given the ongoing economic
uncertainty and the cost of living
crisis, we have continued to monitor
and analyse closely the collective and
specific loan provisions. Despite this,
the quality of the loan book remains
strong resulting in a modest loan
loss provision.

We have sought to ensure property
valuations are up to date in
determining loss given default, either
by obtaining new valuations or
through indexing older valuations by
reference to commercial and
residential property indices.
For assessing the collective provision,
we have considered the impact of
previous economic downturns on
probability of default and loss given
default values. On this basis, as at
30 April 2022, the collective provision
is determined as £0.9m (at 30 April
2021: £0.8m).

CASE STUDY

MILTON KEYNES, UK

Helping young people make a
step-change in their lives
YMCA Milton Keynes is the only provider of supported
housing dedicated to the needs of young adults in the
city. The charity decided that a redevelopment was the
most cost-effective route to deliver its future vision
– to create a modern campus offering high-quality,
affordable homes for young people.
The ambitious development was funded by a range of
sources including a Homes England grant, a local authority
grant, a successful fundraising campaign and a £4.4m loan
from CAF Bank. The state-of-the art campus opened in
2020 and provided vital support during the pandemic. It is
now home for up to 242 young adults, including those who
were homeless, those with complex needs and others
seeking affordable accommodation.
As well as offering a safe place to live, YMCA MK wants to
help residents make a step-change in their lives, to aim high
and face the future with confidence. Social enterprises
operating on site offer opportunities for residents to gain
work experience, build confidence and develop new skills,
as well as generating income for the charity.

“Ever since we took out the loan,
CAF Bank have been interested in
the project’s progress and
understanding of the challenges
we faced occupying the new facility
and dealing with the pandemic.
We would thoroughly recommend
CAF Bank to anyone.”
Simon Green, Chief Executive, YMCA Milton Keynes
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To assess specific provision
requirements, we have reviewed
‘watchlist’ loans and compared the
estimated recoverable amount to the
carrying value of the loans where
there is evidence that the loan is
impaired. Following the lifting of
COVID-19 restrictions, we saw
improvements in the trading of certain
individual customers, this coupled
with increased property valuations
has resulted in specific provisions
reducing to £0.2m at 30 April 2022
(at 30 April 2021: £1.4m).

Capital and liquidity
CAF Bank’s capital position remains
strong relative to the risk weighting of
its assets. At 30 April 2022, the Bank’s
total capital ratio was 30.8% compared
to 31.4% at 30 April 2021. The Bank’s
minimum regulatory capital
requirement decreased to 14.6% at
30 April 2022 (30 April 2021: 15.6%)
which translates to a capital
requirement of £18.1m at 30 April 2022
compared to £19.9m last year. Further
detail about the Bank’s capital position
is outlined in the Pillar 3 document
which can be found at www.cafonline.
org/about-us/about-caf-bank.
CAF Bank is reporting under the UK
Leverage Ratio framework which
results in a leverage ratio of 3.97%
(at 30 April 2021: 3.81%) compared to
a minimum of 3.25%.
Capital includes £11m of ‘Additional
Tier 1’ (AT1) equity which is perpetual,
non-cumulative capital that converts
to ordinary share capital in the event
that Common Equity Tier 1 ratio falls,
or is likely to fall, below 7%. The Bank
has no Tier 2 capital. We have recently
sought the PRA’s approval to exchange
all the Bank’s AT1 equity with an
equivalent nominal value of ordinary
share capital.

Development Banks and UK Gilts and
Treasury Bills.

Environment and society
CAF Bank exists to facilitate and
promote the work of our charity and
social enterprise customers, providing
responsible banking to accelerate
progress in society for all. We are
therefore attuned to the work that
many of our customers do as leading
voices in the charity sector in meeting
the challenges of the Environmental,
Social and Governance (ESG) agenda.
Through providing banking services
tailored to their needs, we are
supporting them in their work, as well
as addressing the part we can play as
an organisation driving ESG forward in
the charity sector.
As part of that commitment, CAF Bank
is in the process of developing a
holistic ESG framework which will
inform our actions in this area. CAF
Bank is committed to achieving net
zero in our operations and we are
ambitious to accelerate this work.
Where we can move faster, we will,
and work is underway to measure our
emissions to make sure we are on the
right path.
The COVID-19 pandemic caused a
sudden shift in our work patterns as
we all adapted to a hybrid working
model. To capitalise on this
opportunity and make our operations
more sustainable, our employees were
engaged in an organisation-wide effort
to help us identify wasteful practices,
and outdated working habits.
The result from the more than 300

staff suggestions, was a series of
changes to internal processes that led
to a significant reduction in the use of
paper and other energy-consuming
practices. The hybrid working model
we adopted during the pandemic
has now become a permanent feature
of our employee offer. This has led
to significantly reduced emissions
and improved employee wellbeing,
as attested in our internal staff
surveys, as a result of reduced
commuting time.
In adopting our new ESG framework
over the coming months, we will look
to maintain this momentum toward
sustainable ways of working. We will
look to review energy, water and
waste usage across our office footprint
and are taking steps to measure our
internal emissions to make sure we
are on the right path. The roll out of
updated systems technology will also
help us to continue our progress
towards digitisation, and minimising
the use of paper.
The Bank continues to manage and
monitor the impact of climate change
on its lending and treasury activities
and is aware the resulting policies
require constant review as they evolve
over time. The relevant policies state
the Bank’s risk appetite for exposures
to climate change, and are monitored
by the Credit Risk Committee and the
Asset-Liability Committee (ALCo).
The are no impairment of lending or
treasury assets due to climate change.
The assessment of climate risk is
central to the evaluation of future
lending and investment opportunities.

In liquidity terms, approximately 92%
of CAF Bank’s assets are highly liquid,
with liquidity buffer eligible assets of
£1,279m at 30 April 2022 (£1,174m at
30 April 2021). Liquidity buffer assets
comprise amounts held in the Bank of
England Reserve Account, and
investments in Multilateral
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Achieving positive social impact is
inherent in everything we do at
CAF Bank. To further this aim, we
partnered with the EY Foundation and
the Chartered Institute of Bankers
(CBI) on their Smart Futures
Programme. This Programme provides
work experience opportunities,
employability skills training, and
interactive workshops to 16–18
year-old students from underprivileged backgrounds.
We welcomed two students from
London as part of the Easter 2022
intake and look forwarding to
welcoming many more in the future.
These students continue to benefit
after their formal work experience

ends through a 10-month mentorship
scheme with CAF Bank senior
leadership.
As charities across the UK face the
unprecedented double-challenge of
rising costs and a fundraising crisis,
the value of a trusted banking partner
who shares their sense of purpose has
never been more important. CAF Bank
continues to position itself to fulfil this
role through maintaining the highest
standards of governance.
Our Non-Executive Directors and
Executives are accomplished leaders
in financial services, the charitable
sector and several other fields. Their
expert scrutiny and strategic direction
inform everything we do; they ensure

our compliance and reporting
protocols are fully fit for purpose, and
they set an impressive level of robust,
transparent governance that is upheld
throughout the organisation.
We believe that good governance
should not be limited to those at the
top, but be embedded at all levels of
the organisation. We have updated
our Whistleblowing Policy to ensure
that our staff are equipped and
empowered to raise any concerns
about internal practices. Workforce
training is constantly reviewed to
ensure everyone at CAF Bank is fully
aware of their own responsibilities to
the organisation, to our clients and
our colleagues.

CASE STUDY

DURHAM, UK

Putting tenants first
Durham Aged Mineworkers’ Homes Association
(DAMHA) is the largest almshouse charity in the
country. The Association owns around 1,700 homes,
mostly bungalows, on 130 sites in 80 towns and villages
in the North East of England. Located mainly in the
former coalfield communities of County Durham, these
provide retirement housing for more than 2,000 people.
DAMHA’s relationship with CAF Bank began when it
switched its banking in 2014. CAF Bank’s support grew to
provide a £2 million secured loan in 2015 and a second loan
facility in 2019.
“CAF Bank provides a personal, friendly and individualised
service and we are really happy with the partnership we
have with them,” said Paul Mullis, Chief Executive, DAMHA.
With CAF Bank’s support, DAMHA has completed three
affordable housing projects, a 24-home development in
the town of Consett, a 19-home scheme in the town of
Houghton-leSpring, and a 13-home development in the
village of Philadelphia. The Ashdale Road scheme in
Consett was shortlisted for an Inside Housing Development
Award.

“We were looking for a bank which
could provide a personal service
and ensure we were not lost just
because we are a smaller
organisation. CAF Bank offered good
terms and stable long-term loans”
	Paul Mullis, Chief Executive, Durham Aged Mineworkers’
Homes Association
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We also provide training and
development opportunities to all
employees, alongside the
apprenticeship scheme noted above,
to ensure that everyone who chooses
to work with us can grow their careers.
Through our support for our clients
during times of such uncertainty, be it
through offering bank accounts to new
non-profit organisations that had
been turned away by other banking
providers, social purpose lending, and
sign-posting to grant opportunities,
we have been able to play our part in
ensuring the sustainability of these
vital contributors to our wider society.

Equality and diversity
CAF Bank, as with our parent charity,
asks our staff to simply ‘be who you
are, we like you that way’. We are an
equal opportunities employer with
staff from a wide variety of
backgrounds and we believe in the
importance of every employee having
the same access to opportunities for
advancement. This not only creates a
better working environment but also
means we are more likely to reflect the
different values, experiences and
cultures of our clients and the people
they are helping. Bank staff also
participate in the Employee Council,
which is formed of volunteers who
liaise with management to ensure the
voices of staff at all levels of our
organisation are heard and any
concerns are brought to the attention
of the executive. A regular staff
engagement programme has proven
popular and recognition of those who
have gone above and beyond for our
customers has become a feature of
our work.
We continue to place strategic
importance on the need for diversity
across our organisation, including at
Board level. When filling Board
positions, diversity is actively
considered as part of the selection
process with measures in place to
ensure an appropriate diversification
is maintained. In the second year after
adopting our Board Diversity policy,
45% of the Board and 60% of the
Executive Committee are women.

Stakeholder engagement
to promote the success of
the Bank
Under Section 172(1) of the Companies
Act 2006, the directors are required to
describe how they consider a broad
range of stakeholders when
performing their duty to promote the
success of the Bank. We have
developed into a successful and
profitable business, driven by focus on
core values, a clear strategy and
efforts to consider our stakeholders’
interests throughout our decision
making process.
In this statement we have detailed our
key stakeholders, their importance to
our business and how we have
engaged with them throughout the
year. We then provide examples of key
decisions we have made in the year,
describing how we considered
stakeholders in these decisions and
how the decisions will add long-term
value.

Stakeholder engagement
We recognise and promote the
importance of strong relationships
with our stakeholders across all of our
activities, and we are committed to
engaging with them to ensure we
maintain long-term relationships and
add lasting value to the charity
community in which we operate.
Below we give examples of
stakeholder engagement:

Employees
Our employees are usually the first
point of contact customers have with
the Bank and therefore are critical to
our success. Many employees have a
deep knowledge of our charity
customers and their requirements and
perform key roles requiring specific
knowledge and expertise. We aim to
ensure that all of our employees feel
valued and appreciated while working
for us.

annual employee surveys, to help
understand any issues or changes
they would like to see implemented
within the organisation. CAF Bank is
member of the Financial Services
Culture Board (“FSCB”, previously the
Banking Standards Board) and all
employees have the opportunity to
participate in the annual FSCB staff
survey. Participation was high and the
results were excellent, and helpfully
provided some areas of feedback for
greater improvement that are now
being worked through across the
organisation.

Customers
Our charity and social purpose
customers remain at the heart of our
business. We have continued our
customer engagement through
continuous interaction with customers
via regular meetings with borrowers
and deposit customer surveys which
take place throughout the year. These
programmes allow us to have a deep
understanding of our customer’s needs
and values and provide the
opportunity for us to act upon the
feedback they have given. Feedback
from customers is also informing our
digital modernisation project and will
underpin the requirements for our new
systems and customer channels.

Suppliers
We recognise that our suppliers are
crucial to the success of CAF Bank and
we understand the importance of
maintaining strong lines of
communication. Many perform critical
out-sourced functions and are subject
to regular formal review. Directors and
senior managers engage with
suppliers regularly throughout the
year and feedback is continuously
communicated and monitored
through governance committees.

The Directors and the Executive
engage with our employees through
regular meetings and feedback
sessions; through a structured
appraisal process; and through
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Regulators

Technology investment

Board appointments

It is within the Bank’s culture of
fairness and transparency to promote
high standards of conduct within the
Bank and with all external parties. In
particular, as directors of a regulated
bank, holding customer deposits,
safety, soundness and adherence to
all relevant aspects of regulation is key
to the Bank’s business model.

The decision to invest significantly in
technology was driven by our need to
ensure our customers enjoy an
efficient and modern customer
experience, to maintain compliance
with regulatory changes, and to
upgrade our IT platforms to maintain
operational resilience.

In August 2021, our Deputy Chair and
Chair of the Audit Committee Malcolm
Himsworth retired, and we welcomed
David Watts as a Non-Executive
Director and Chair of the Audit
Committee. At the same time Astrid
Grey was appointed as Deputy Chair.

Directors and the executive maintain
close awareness of this through
engagement with regulators, primarily
the Prudential Regulation Authority
(PRA) and also the Financial Conduct
Authority (FCA). This involves regular,
direct contact with regulators, and is
supported by interactions with
industry bodies, specialist advisors,
regulatory seminars, online forums
and round table events. This has
allowed us to remain informed on
increasing regulatory requirements
and ensure we operate to the
standard required.

Key decisions

Whilst the programme will take longer
than initailly planned, we are well
advanced in our digital modernisation
project and are currently in the
implementation phase for our
replacement suite of banking systems.
These will provide the foundation for
modernising our customer proposition
to ensure we are able to offer efficient,
up-to-date banking services in a
mobile, 24/7 digital world.

Future developments
We are seeking the PRA’s consent to
exchange all the Bank’s AT1 capital for
ordinary shares of the same nominal
value. This will strengthen the Bank’s
CET1 capital position.
This report has been approved by the
Board of Directors and signed by
order of the board.

Senior Executive appointments
In April 2022, we welcomed Robert
Camp as Chief Information Officer.
Robert has many years senior
experience in banking IT in major
UK banks.

Janet Pope
Chair
28 July 2022

Our strategy is to be the preferred
bank for small and medium sized
charities. We aim to deliver a cycle of
improving customer service quality
and efficiency, leading to improved
profitability which in turn funds
investment in the Bank.
The Bank is privately owned and can
therefore take a longer-term view
than a publicly quoted company.
We make careful decisions to maintain
strategic focus, control costs, invest
and ensure sufficient capital and
liquidity is held. All of the decisions we
make consider the regulatory context
and the full range of stakeholders
mentioned previously.
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The CAF Bank Board is responsible for establishing and monitoring the Bank’s strategy and risk
appetite and approving related policy statements which set out the control environment within which
the Bank operates. Implementation of strategy and development and delivery of the Bank’s operating
plan is the responsibility of the Bank’s CEO and Executive Committee.

NomCo and
RemCo

Board Risk and
Compliance Committee

Board Level

Board of Directors
Audit
Committee

CEO

(Senior Executive)

Denotes CRO Independent access to Board

Executive Committee
Executive Risk Committee
(Risk – CRO)

Sanctions

Credit Risk
Committee

Risk Management and Ownership

Risk Oversight and Control

Central and outsourced functions

Operations
Committee

High Risk
Committee

Independent Assurance

CRO

(Senior Executive)

(Finance, HR, IT, Treasury, Admin)

Risk

Compliance

Data

Financial Crime

Internal Audit
(outsourced)

Banking

(Commercial Lending, Lending services)

Functions

Operations

Compliance
Committee

ALCO

Executive and
Business Level

(Performance – CEO)

FRAC

(Fraud, Recons and Cards)

In addition to the above, for a fixed time period until the Bank’s digital modernisation project has
been concluded, there is an additional sub-committee reporting into the Board and an executive
sub-committee reporting into the Executive Committee which will be the Transformation Steerco
with delegated responsibilities for governance and oversight of the Transformation Project.
The Board comprises the Non-Executive chair, eight Non-Executive Directors and two Executive
Directors, and exercises its accountabilities through its own activities and through delegation of
responsibilities to the CEO and the Executive Committee. The Board receives reports from the
CEO and reviews the work of the Executive Committee.
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•

The following Directors served throughout the year,
except as noted:

•

Meetings
attended

Maximum

Janet Pope
–Chair1,2

6

6

•

Astrid Grey
–Deputy Chair1 (Retired 23rd August 2021)

6

6

Malcolm Himsworth
–Deputy Chair1

2

2

•
•

Martyn Beauchamp1

6

6

Kees Diepstraten1

6

6

•
•

Neil Heslop
– CAF Chief Executive

4

6

•

Mairi Johnstone1

6

6

•

Samantha Seaton1

6

6

•

Graham Toy1

6

6

David Watts
– (Appointed 23rd August 2021)

4

4

Alison Taylor
– Chief Executive Officer

5

6

Philip Alvey
– Chief Finance Officer

6

6

1

•

Reviewed and challenged the operating activities of the
Bank compared to plans and changes in the wider
economic environment;
Monitored the conduct of business to ensure adherence
to approved risk appetite and compliance with applicable
regulations;
Monitored the impact of COVID-19 and operational
resilience;
Monitored reputational risk and brand issues;
Reviewed, challenged and approved the capital and
liquidity adequacy assessments and policies (ICAAP and
ILAAP).
Reviewed, challenged and approved the Recovery Plan;
Approved the composition, membership and terms of
reference of Board sub-committees;
Reviewed reports and recommendations from Board
sub-committees, taking action as appropriate;
Reviewed and approved the Annual Report and Financial
Statements;
Set an appropriate ‘tone from the top’ and ensured
alignment of values and behaviours in the Bank relating
to the conduct of its business; and
Kept the PRA and FCA informed of the Bank’s strategy,
operations and risks during the year.

Board Committees
The Board has established four sub-committees to assist it
in monitoring the business, reviewing policies, systems and
controls and setting risk appetite:
I. Board Risk and Compliance Committee;
II. Audit Committee;

None of the Directors have interests in the shares of the
Bank or any associated undertaking or trust.
The Board is supported by Kate Mayor, Company Secretary.

During the year the Board discharged its responsibilities
as follows:

•
•
•

Approved the Bank’s strategy, operating plans, budgets
and forecasts;
Monitored (and approved changes to) the Bank’s
Transformation Plan for its banking system to enhance
our customer proposition;
Approved the Risk Appetite Statements to maintain an
effective and appropriate governance and control
structure for managing the business;

III. Nominations and Remuneration Committee; and
IV. Transformation Committee (fixed period only).
Each sub-committee is subject to its own Terms of
Reference and has authority to review relevant policies,
systems, controls and reporting, making recommendations
to the Board for approval.

The Board Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC)
The Board Risk and Compliance Committee is responsible
for advising the Board on the Bank’s risk management
framework and compliance matters. The Committee is
chaired by an Independent Non-Executive Director (INED)
and comprises of three other INEDs. Key management
attend Committee meetings by invitation.

1 Independent non-executive director (INED)
2 CAF Trustee
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During the year, the BRCC discharged its responsibilities:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Reviewed the Risk Appetite Statement and
recommended these for approval by the Board;
Monitored risk reporting and ensured the Bank’s
strategy, principles, policies and resources are aligned to
the Bank’s risk appetite, as well as to regulatory and
industry best practices;
Reviewed and challenged capital and liquidity adequacy
assessments, the Recovery Plan and recommended
these for approval by the Board;
Monitored compliance with legislation, regulation and
internal policy;
Focused on Business Risks (including the impact of
COVID-19), Credit and IT risks including oversight of the
Transformation Project; and
Reviewed policies and recommended these to the Board.

Whistleblowing
The Chair of the BRCC has oversight as the Bank’s
“whistleblowers’ champion”, with responsibility for ensuring
and overseeing the integrity, independence, and
effectiveness of the whistleblowing policies and procedures.
The Committee reviews at least annually the Bank’s
Whistleblowing Policy and associated arrangements.

The Board Audit Committee
The Board Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the
effectiveness of financial reporting and internal audit, and
overseeing whistleblowing policies and procedures. The
Committee also safeguards the independence of external
audit and the outsourced internal audit function and
oversees their effectiveness.
The Committee is chaired by an Independent Non-Executive
Director (INED) and comprises two other INEDs. Key
management attend Committee meetings by invitation.
During the year the Committee Chair held regular meetings
with the external, internal auditors and management to
discuss the business of the Committee and specific issues
as they arose.

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities:
Financial Reporting
The Committee reviewed and challenged:

•
•
•
•
•

The Annual Report and Financial Statements;
The annual external audit plan, including remuneration
of the auditors;
The significant areas of judgement in relation to critical
accounting policies;
Evaluated the effectiveness of external auditors, and
assessed their independence and objectivity; and

Internal Audit
During the year the Committee:

•
•
•

Reviewed and challenged the annual internal audit plan in
the context of the Bank’s risk and control profile;
Reviewed and challenged the findings of internal audit
reports and management’s responses to
recommendations; and
Monitored the effectiveness of internal audit.

The Nominations and Remuneration Committee
The Nominations and Remuneration Committee is
responsible for advising the Board on the appointment of
members to the Board and Board sub-committees. The
committee also makes recommendations regarding the
remuneration of members of the Executive Committee and
reviews and agrees the basis for pay rises and bonuses
awarded to staff.
The Committee comprises the Chair, an INED, the CAF Bank
CEO and CAF Chief Executive.
During the year, the Committee discharged its
responsibilities:

•
•
•
•
•

Reviewed the composition of the Board and made
recommendations for appointments to Board and Board
sub-committees;
Monitored Board effectiveness and succession plans;
Reviewed and approved policies, including diversity and
equality policies;
Monitored conflicts of interest; and
Reviewed remuneration and other policy and practice in
relation to employees and Directors.

The Transformation Committee (fixed period only)
The Transformation Committee is responsible for providing
oversight for the delivery of the Bank’s transformation
programme. The Committee also provides guidance and
sign off on key decisions within the transformation
programme and supports the resolution of escalations from
the Transformation Steering Committee. At key programme
milestones the committee will provide recommendations to
the CAF Board for review and ultimate sign off.
The Committee comprises the Chair, three INEDs, the
CAF Bank CEO, CAF Chief Executive and key members of
the programme team. During the year, the Committee
discharged its responsibilites:

•
•
•
•

Reviewed and challenged project plans;
Reviewed and challenged the transformation budget;
Monitored project progress and milestones; and
Reviewed and approved key programme decisions.

The Pillar 3 report.
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The Risk Management Framework (RMF) outlines
how CAF Bank Ltd (the “Bank”) manages risks that
are relevant to our chosen sectors, business model
and operations.

when they are defined, understood, measurable and
controllable. We control risks by ensuring the Bank’s
resources are capable of withstanding both expected and
unexpected impacts.

Risk-taking is an inherent part of banking, and the Bank
aims to make a profit from taking risks in a controlled way.
However, excessive and poorly managed risks can have
negative impacts on all of the Bank’s stakeholders.

The Senior Executives and Managers of the Bank ensure
embedding of Risk Management in day-to-day management
and control activities, with a clear separation between First
Line of Defence and Second Line of Defence activities
(1LOD and 2LOD).

Risk is the combination of the probability of an event
occurring, and its consequences which can be either
positive or negative. In the context of this document, the
focus is risks that could have an impact on the Bank’s
customers, capital, liquidity, profitability, reputation and
ultimately its viability.
Risk management refers to the process of identification,
assessment, measurement, control and monitoring of risks.
The Board, Directors and Senior Management ensure the
risks taken are manageable. We consider risks manageable

Prudential
Operational
Conduct
Financial Crime
Group
Information Security
Climate

Legal and Regulatory

•
•
•
•
•
•

1. Risk Appetite and Risk Strategy

•
•
•
•

Risk Appetite Framework
Risk Appetite Statement(s)
Business Plan and Strategy
Risk Culture

2. Risk Architecture

•
•
•
•

Governance and Committee structure
Three lines of defence (3LOD)
Risk resourcing, risk systems
Reporting and escalation

3. Risk Protocols

Prudential Regulation
Authority

Identify

Financial Conduct Authority
Consumer Credit Act
General Data Protection
Regulation
The Foreign Account Tax
Compliance Act/Common
Reporting Standard

Monitor
Measure
residual

Measure
inherent
Control

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Policies
Procedures
Mandates/segregation
Controls/checks
Risk and Control
Self Assessment
Business quality

5. Third line - independent assurance

Credit

How do we provide oversight
and assurance on risk
management and compliance?

4. Second Line - risk oversight

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic

Detailed frameworks, policies and procedures support this
document. These combine to ensure the way the Bank
manages risk is consistent with the size and nature of the
Bank’s operations. They align to regulatory requirements
and reflect industry best practice, as reflected below:

How do we manage risks
and compliance given the
business objectives?

What risks and
regulatory requirements
do we face?

Principal Risks

CAF Bank establishes and maintains risk culture by the
adoption of a set of values, risk principles and setting the
correct “tone at the top” of the Bank.

Projects/change

Senior Managers Regime
Data, Reporting, Key Risk Indicators, Limits
Risk Data Aggregation/Portfolio Analysis
Stress testing: Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process, Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment,
Recovery and Resolution Plan
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The RMF includes the three lines of defence model which
ensures a clear delineation of responsibilities between
control over day-to-day operations, risk oversight and
control and independent assurance of the Bank’s activities.
This 3LOD model is important as it provides clarity for
individuals and functions about their role, where
responsibilities and accountabilities lay and is a core
component of the RMF.
The emphasis on the responsibilities of each line of
defences is as follows:
First Line of Defence – Business lines and centralised functions
The First Line of Defence (through managing risks and
staying in control of their activities), is responsible for
managing risk in the context of the legal and regulatory
environment. The first line of defence also takes due regard
of the reputational position that the Bank occupies in
support of charities.

•
•
•
•
•
•

To run the business in a safe but profitable fashion to
enable sustainability – linked to the Risk Appetite
Framework and Statements;

To act in an “early warning” role in terms of ongoing
client relationship management;
Identify, measure, control and monitor risks within each
area of the business, reporting, management and
escalation of incidents and to evidence control;
As part of the controls, the 1LOD needs to implement
and adhere to the mandates, policies and processes that
are part of the control environment; and
Identify and assess new or emerging risks as internal
activities or the external environment changes.

•
•
•

Maintain an aggregate view of risk and monitoring
performance in relation to the Bank’s risk appetite;
Monitoring changes and compliance to external
regulation, and promoting best practices; and
To support a structured approach to risk management
by implementing and maintaining a risk management
framework (RMF) and bank-wide risk policies, and to
monitor their proper execution in the 1LOD.

Third line of defence - Internal Audit (the Internal Audit function
is outsourced to Mazars LLP)
To provide independent assurance to the Board via the
Audit Committee that the 1LOD and 2LOD are both
effective and operative in discharging their
responsibilities.

•

Risk Appetite Statement
The Bank has taken the expectations of its stakeholders
into consideration in articulating its risk appetite; the need
for regulatory compliance at all times; the preservation of
its authorisation and reputation and its desire for
controlled and sustainable profits in line with its values.
An overarching Risk Appetite Statement (RAS) governs the
Bank’s approach to risks it is willing to accept in support of
its Business Plan. The overarching Risk Appetite Statement
aligns to the Business Plan and Strategy:

Focus of the
three-year
business plan

CAF Bank, a bank owned by a charity,
is developing a more robust business
model that seeks to maintain an appropriate
balance between its mission to support
charities and providing a return to CAF in
a low interest rate environment.

Overarching
risk appetite
assessment

The Bank will take appropriate but controlled
risk to support income and lending book
growth, to remain sustainable, whilst
remaining a safe, trusted and ethical bank
of choice, that is ‘helping charities to make
a better society’.

To manage the risks in the business, to within tolerances
or limits;

Second line of defence – Oversight functions (Risk, Compliance,
Anti-Money Laundering, and Data Protection)
To provide independent oversight and guidance on risks
relevant to the Bank’s strategy and activities;

•

Central to the Risk Governance and to the Three Lines of
Defence model is the CRO. The CRO is responsible for
monitoring exposures to the Board approved Risk Appetites
and reporting to the Executive Risk Committee (ERC) as well
as the Board’s Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC).

The Bank’s principal risks are strategic, credit, prudential,
operational, financial crime, information security, conduct,
and group. Identifying and monitoring current and
emerging risks is integral to our approach to risk
management.
The following information on pages 18-22 is covered by the
external auditors’ opinion on pages 26.

Strategic risk
Strategic risk is the risk that can affect the Bank’s ability to
achieve its strategic and business objectives. Strategic risk
might arise from making poor business decisions, from
the substandard execution of decisions, from inadequate
resource allocation, or from a failure to respond well to
changes in the business environment.
From a strategic perspective, CAF Bank was established as
a mixed motive investment to further the charitable
mission of its parent, the Charities Aid Foundation,
through the provision of banking services to the charity
sector, as well as provide a financial return on CAF’s
investment in the Bank.
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Credit risk (continued)
Credit or default risk is the potential of financial loss from
a borrower or counterparty failing to meet their financial
obligations to the Bank to repay in accordance with agreed
terms.

Treasury assets
Treasury counterparties are reviewed and approved by the
Asset-Liability Committee (ALCo) in accordance with policies
and criteria approved by the Board. The Bank sets criteria

which include credit rating, counterparty lending limits,
group exposures, and country exposure limits. New
investments with non-sovereign backed financial and
non-financial institutions do not exceed £14m and £5m
respectively. The Bank uses the Standardised Approach to
assess capital required for credit risk, with risk weightings
based on the lower of the two highest of Fitch, S&P and
Moody’s ratings in accordance with the credit quality
assessment scale.

Treasury assets by class:
2022

2021

Book
Value
£000

Market
Value
£000

Book
Value
£000

Market
Value
£000

679,925

663,350

758,564

760,657

Fixed coupon corporate bonds

23,723

22,508

24,093

24,399

Floating rate corporate bonds

63,497

63,978

83,398

84,458

767,145

749,836

866,055

869,514

10,000

9,922

19,821

19,983

Debt securities (Note 11)

777,145

759,758

885,876

889,497

Balances at Bank of England

602,553

602,553

417,756

417,756

7,471

7,471

7,897

7,897

1,387,169 1,369,782

1,311,529

1,315,150

Listed:
Multilateral financial institutions

Unlisted:
Certificates of deposit

Loans and advances to banks (Note 9)

Treasury assets by credit rating:
2022

2021

Book
Value
£000

% of
Book
%

Book
Value
£000

% of
Book
%

UK Government

602,553

43.44%

417,756

31.87%

AAA

740,515

53.38%

752,985

57.41%

AA+

26,631

1.92%

83,071

6.33%

AA-

5,401

0.39%

25,485

1.94%

Category
(Fitch equivalent lowest credit rating)

A+

2,069

0.15%

22,351

1.70%

A

10,000

0.72%

9.881

0.75%

1,387,169

100.00%

1,311,529

100.00%
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Credit risk (continued)
Treasury assets by exposure value

6%

1%
11%
UK Government and Multilateral
Financial Institutions

30/04/2022

Financial & Non Financial Institutions
<= £10m

30/04/2021

Financial & Non Financial Institutions
> £10m – £20m

93%

89%

Lending
Lending is monitored by the Credit Risk Committee. Loan
applications are reviewed and presented for approval to the
Sanctions Committee, a sub-committee of the Credit Risk
Committee, in accordance with policies and criteria
approved by the Board. Lending is secured on property and
subject to maximum limits on loan to value ratios. CAF Bank
has in place a system of limits and controls to manage
credit risk on its loan portfolio.
The policies include maximum exposure values and limits
to manage concentration risk by sector. Exposure to
geographical area is monitored. At 30 April 2022, the largest
loan was £7m (2020/21: £4.8m). The maximum aggregate
exposures to any one sector (Social Housing) and
geographical area were 60% and 31% respectively (2020/21:
53% and 29% respectively).

Gross loans and advances to
customers (Note 10)
Undrawn overdraft and loan
commitments (Note 19)

2022
£000

2021
£000

162,932

127,937

22,608

36,779

185,540

164,716

185,540

164,716

–

–

Amounts included within the above:
Secured on property
Unsecured:
Loans
Overdrafts

–

–

185,540

164,716

Loans, overdrafts and BACS facilities are subject to regular
monitoring of loan performance and individual annual
review. Administration of the loan book is outsourced to
BCM Global Mortgage Management Ltd which provides
regular management information on a loan-by-loan and
aggregated basis.

As at 30 April 2022 the average loan to value ratio across
the lending portfolio was 53% (2020/21: 53%).

A provision of £902k has been made at 30 April 2022
reflecting losses that may have been incurred but not yet
identified (2020/21: £802k) and £176k has been provided for
specific loan provisions (2020/21: £1,376k).
No overdrafts were written off during the year (2020/21:
nil). One loan was in arrears at 30 April 2022 (2020/21: one).

<=30%

£10,414,614

<=40%

£11,352,820

<=50%

£44,144,759

<=60%

£28,124,452

<=70%

£25,824,354

<=80%

£28,988,386

<=90%

£5,618,180

LTV Range

Amount

<=10%

£1,212,396

<=20%

£6,759,159

<=100%

£0

Unsecured

£0

Totals
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Prudential risk

Market risk (including Interest Rate risk)

Prudential risk is the risk that the Bank has insufficient
capital, liquidity and funding to maintain its operations in
business as usual and stressed conditions. Prudential risk
includes Capital, Liquidity and Market risks.

Market risk is the risk from adverse movements in external
markets, e.g. interest rate movements, changes in
investment values or currency movements that will impact
our income or the value of our assets and liabilities. This
includes interest rate risk in our banking book (IRRBB) which
is the risk arising from a mismatch between the duration of
assets and liabilities.

Capital risk
Capital risk is the risk that the Bank has insufficient capital
to cover stressed conditions, regulatory requirements and
business plans.
Capital risk is measured, monitored and reported daily
against limits approved by the Board within the Bank’s
Capital policy and monitored by ALCo and Executive Risk
Committee. The Bank undertakes regular stress testing of
its capital adequacy and complied with all internal and
external limits.

CAF Bank does not undertake proprietary trading activities.
Investments are held to maturity and valued at cost with any
premium or discount amortised over the remaining term. All
the Bank’s assets and liabilities are denominated in sterling.
Market risk is measured by monitoring mismatches between
assets and liabilities assessed on a behavioural basis which
may result from movements in market interest rates over a
specified time period within Board approved limits. IRRBB is
measured weekly and monitoring is carried out by ALCo and
the Board Risk and Compliance Committee.

Liquidity risk (including Funding risk)
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank does not have
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they
fall due, or can secure them only at excessive cost. Liquidity
risk arises from mismatches in the timing of cash flows.
Funding risk arises when the liquidity needed to fund
illiquid asset positions cannot be obtained at the expected
terms when required.

Non-maturity (on-demand) deposits are behaviouralised in
to time bandings:
Current accounts

£0-£249,999

2-3 years

£250,000-£999,999

1-2 years

Over £1m

6-12 months

Liquidity risk is measured, monitored and reported daily
against intra-day triggers and limits approved by the Board
within the Bank’s Liquidity Policy. The liquidity position is
monitored by ALCo and the Executive Risk Committee. The
Bank undertakes regular stress testing of its liquidity
position and behavioural analysis of its liabilities and assets.
CAF Bank holds liquidity buffer eligible assets of £1,279m
(2020/21: £1,174m), excluding assets pledged as security
under repurchase agreements. Liquidity buffer assets
comprise amounts held in the Bank of England Reserve
Account, and investments in Multilateral Development
Banks, UK Gilts, and Treasury Bills.

Balances at Bank of England
UK Government
Multilateral financial institutions

2022
Book
Value
£000

2021
Book
Value
£000

599,340

415,462

–

–

679,925

758,564

1,279,265

1,174,026
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Assets and liabilities analysed by interest rate pricing time periods:
As at 30 April 2022

Next
day
£000

Up to 3
months
£000

3 months
to 6 months
£000

6 months
to 1 year
£000

1 year
to 5 years
£000

Over 5
years
£000

Other
items
£000

Total
£000

599,340

3,213

–

–

–

–

–

602,553

7,471

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,471

Assets
Balances at Bank of England
Loans and advances to banks
(Note 9)
Loans and advances to
customers (Note 10)

145,065

–

–

4,662

10,680

–

–

160,407

Debt securities (Note 11)

–

266,297

–

65,911

406,503

37,911

523

777,145

Prepayments and accrued
income

–

–

–

–

–

–

3,792

3,792

Intangible asset (Note 12)

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,676

4,676

751,876

269,510

–

70,573

417,183

37,911

8,991

1,556,044

800,165

–

–

108,571

600,196

–

5

1,508,937

Liabilities
Customer accounts (Note 13)
Other liabilities (Note 14)

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,178

4,178

Shareholders’ funds (Note 16)

–

–

–

–

–

–

42,929

42,929

800,165

–

–

108,571

600,196

–

47,112

1,556,044

269,510

–

(37,998)

Interest rate sensitivity gap
Impact of 2% change in
interest rates

As at 30 April 2021

(48,289)
–

(553)

(183,013)

–

546

4,329

37,911
(3,496)

(38,121)

–

–

826

Next
day
£000

Up to 3
months
£000

3 months
to 6 months
£000

6 months
to 1 year
£000

1 year
to 5 years
£000

Over 5
years
£000

Other
items
£000

Total
£000

415,461

2,295

–

–

–

–

–

417,756

7,897

–

–

–

–

–

–

7,897

Assets
Balances at Bank of England
Loans and advances to banks
(Note 9)
Loans and advances to
customers (Note 10)

115,004

–

–

–

9,502

–

–

124,506

Debt securities (Note 11)

–

337,166

32,012

207,175

202,453

106,641

429

885,876

Prepayments and accrued
income

–

–

–

–

–

–

4,067

4,067

Intangible asset

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,194

1,194

538,362

339,461

32,012

207,175

211,955

106,641

5,690

1,441,296

788,350

–

–

84,088

525,704

–

4

1,398,146

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,861

1,861

Liabilities
Customer accounts (Note 13)
Other liabilities (Note 14)
Shareholders’ funds (Note 16)
Interest rate sensitivity gap
Impact of 2% change in
interest rates

–

–

–

–

–

–

41,289

41,289

788,350

–

–

84,088

525,704

–

43,154

1,441,296

(249,988)

339,461

32,012

123,087

(313,749)

106,641

(37,464)

–

–

(234)

(236)

(1,809)

13,479

(11,310)

–

(110)

CAF Bank Ltd | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending 30 April 2022

22

RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT

The following information is not covered by the external
auditors’ opinion.

Operational risk
The risk of financial loss and or reputational damage
resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems or from external suppliers and events.
Having adequate operational resilience improves our ability
to absorb and not contribute to, or exacerbate shocks while
continuing to provide critical functions.
During the year ended 30 April 2022 operational losses
totalled £12k (2020/21: £17k).
CAF Bank uses the Basic Indicator Approach to assess
operational risk capital requirements.

Operational resilience
The Bank has continued to develop and enhance its
Operational Resilience to protect the Bank against internal
and external events that can disrupt service to our
customers. In accordance with Prudential Regulation
Authority, Financial Conduct Authority and Bank of England
rules, we have identified and mapped our important
business services, defined set impact tolerances for the
maximum tolerable level of disruption and performed
testing of our ability to remain within impact tolerances
during a severe but plausible disruption during this period.
Having adequate operational resilience improves our ability
to absorb and not contribute to, or exacerbate shocks and
continue to provide critical functions during periods of
disruption.

CAF Bank complies with all relevant laws and regulation
taking into account supervisory and approved industry
guidance. Work to prevent fraud, money laundering,
terrorist financing, breach of sanctions, tax evasion and
bribery/corruption is led by the Bank’s CEO and COO with
the support of dedicated Know Your Customer and Fraud
Prevention teams. Oversight is provided by the Money
Laundering Reporting Officer and Chief Risk Officer.
Cyber threats are escalating from an increasingly
sophisticated financial crime community and geopolitical
tensions. We continue to invest in strengthening our cyber
defences and ensuring the robustness of our controls.
CAF Bank continues to carry out ‘know your customer’
reviews in line with industry practice.
Bank losses to fraud in the year ended 30 April 2022 were
£48k (2020/21: £43k).

Conduct risk
The risk of poor customer outcomes at any stage of the
customer journey, through inappropriate execution of the
Bank’s activities and processes. This could include, poor
staff behaviours, a breach of the conduct rules and a poor
culture, which could cause detriment to customers, the
Bank or staff members.

Financial crime
Financial Crime includes any offence involving fraud or
dishonesty, or handling the proceeds of crime. We seek
to protect our customers and the Bank from the risks of
financial crime by identifying inherent risks and operating
with appropriate systems and controls to detect and
prevent harm. We will not conduct business with individuals
or entities we believe are engaged in illicit behaviour.
We seek to minimise the Bank’s and our customers’
exposure to loss from fraud.
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The Directors present their report and
the audited financial statements for the
year ended 30 April 2022.
Results for the Year
CAF Bank made a profit on ordinary activities before
taxation for the year of £2,029k (2020/21: £915k). After
ensuring it has retained what is required to support capital
adequacy and agreed investment programmes, and after
maintaining sufficient reserves to meet interest payable on
capital instruments and taxation, CAF Bank aims to donate
its surplus profits to its parent charity, Charities Aid
Foundation. Given the ongoing investment in the Bank’s
transformation programme a donation will not be made
this year.
No interest (2020/21: £990k) was payable to AT1
holders due to the Bank’s transformation expenditure.
No dividends were paid on ordinary share capital during
the year (2020/21: none).

Charitable and Political Donations
CAF Bank did not make a donation to CAF in the year
(2020/21: none). The Bank did not make political donations
or incur any political expenditure during the year (2020/21:
none).

Employees
CAF Bank recognises that the development and training
of staff is critical to its continuing success and provides
development opportunities and support to ensure all staff
have the knowledge and skills to perform at the highest
standard. Each member of staff receives an induction and
job related training and resources are made available to
enable individuals to develop and improve their
performance and keep up-to-date with internal and
external developments. As part of CAF, we are pleased to
report CAF Bank’s commitment to staff is evidenced by the
Bank’s contribution to the Group achieving the Investors in
People Silver Standard.

CAF Bank regularly provides staff with information
including the Bank’s progress against objectives, financial
position, future aims and strategy. An annual employee
engagement survey is undertaken and the results used to
improve performance in areas that are important to staff.
All staff are employed by CAF and recharged to CAF Bank
where activities have been undertaken on the Bank’s
behalf.

Going concern
To assess going concern the Directors have reviewed the
adequacy of the Bank’s capital and liquidity positions, and
the Bank’s operational resilience, including the ability of
CAF to continue to provide shared services.
The Directors have concluded the Bank’s capital position
can withstand a severe economic outcome, and further
concluded that the likelihood of CAF Bank going into
resolution due to a capital shortfall is remote.
Liquidity stress tests for varying levels of deposit outflows
show the Bank is able to survive an outflow of deposits
exceeding 35% of balances.
The Directors have concluded the Bank’s parent will
continue as a going concern providing shared services to
the Bank. Other suppliers are closely monitored and there
are no indications of issues which would threaten the
Bank’s going concern.
The Directors have therefore adopted the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditors
A resolution to appoint the auditors and to agree their
remuneration will be submitted to the Board.

The Bank is committed to offering equal opportunities
to all staff and opposes all forms of discrimination.
The Bank seeks to provide equal opportunities in training,
development and career opportunities to all staff. 45% of
members of the Board and 60% of the Bank’s Executive
Management are women. CAF Bank, as part of CAF, has
been recognised as a Level 2 – Disability Confident
Employer, which is a national recognition scheme
confirming the Bank’s commitment to equality of
opportunity throughout our recruitment process and
employment for disabled people.
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards
and applicable law), including FRS 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland”. Under company law the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the company and of the profit or loss of the company for
that period. In preparing these financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

•
•
•
•

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

Directors’ interests
The Directors who served during the financial year are
reported in the Governance Report on page 15. No Director
had an interest in the share capital of the Bank or any other
UK group company.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who are a Director at the date of
approval of this report confirms that:
1) So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the company’s auditors are
unaware; and

Make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

2) Each Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to
have taken as a Director in order to make him/her aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the company’s auditor’s are aware of that information.

State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies
Act 2006.

Prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

By order of the Board and signed on its behalf on
28 July 2022.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They have general
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open
to them to safeguard the assets of the company and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Janet Pope
Chair
CAF Bank Ltd
Company Number 1837656

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information included
on the company’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF CAF BANK LTD

Report on the audit of the financial statements
1. Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements of CAF Bank Ltd
(the company):

3. Summary of our audit approach

•

Key audit
matter

The key audit matter that we identified in the
current year was valuation of loan impairment
provisions.

Materiality

The materiality that we used in the current year
was £410,000 which was determined on the basis
of 1% of equity. We determined materiality at the
planning stage and did not elect to adjust
materiality based on final equity as this would
have resulted in a higher materiality.

Scoping

Audit work to respond to the risks of material
misstatement was performed directly by the
audit engagement team.

•

•

Give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s
affairs as at 30 April 2022 and of its profit for the year
then ended;
Have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice,
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland”; and
Have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

•
•
•
•
•
•

the profit and loss account;

Significant
There were no significant changes in our
changes in
approach compared to the prior year.
our approach

the balance sheet;
the statement of changes in equity;

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

the cash flow statement;

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded
that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements
is appropriate.

the sections of the risk management report identified as
audited and
the related notes 1 to 23.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting
Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

2. Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial
Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied
to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We confirm that we have not provided any
non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard
to the company.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the
company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting included:

•
•

•
•

We obtained an understanding of the process and
relevant controls over the preparation of the assessment
of going concern;
We involved our regulatory specialists to provide
challenge over the liquidity and capital stress testing
assumptions used by management, including
consideration of management actions and the
probability of the reverse stress scenario;
We challenged the key assumptions and information
used in conjunction with our Bank regulatory specialist
and analytics team; and
We evaluated the appropriateness of the going concern
disclosures in the financial statements.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of at least twelve months from
when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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5. Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall
audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

5.1. Valuation of loan impairment provisions.
Key audit matter
description

The value of CAF Bank’s loan book grew in the current year to £162m as at 30 April 2022 (2021: £124m) driven
by an increase in charitable lending. Loan balances comprise lending to charities and to finance property
developments for social purpose organisations. Loans are assessed during the year and at each reporting date
to determine whether there is evidence of impairment. Where impairment triggers are identified, loans must
be assessed for impairment and appropriate loan impairment provisions are recorded based on discounted
expected future cash flows.
The process for establishing impairment provisions for loan balances involves management judgement to both
identify potential impairment triggers and to estimate the amount of impairment losses. The economy showed
signs of recovery from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, with government vaccine programmes and fiscal
policy support bolstering the economy. However, inflation and the cost of living crisis continues to cause
economic uncertainty. This represented an area of judgement and estimation for management.
The Company is also required to provide for loan losses that may have been incurred but not reported (IBNR).
The IBNR provision is modelled using market data for probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD)
which is adjusted by management to reflect the credit risk in the CAF Bank loan book.
The impairment provision as at 30 April 2022 was £1,078k (2021: £2,178k), of which £902k (2021: £802k) relates
to the IBNR provision and £176k (2021: £1,376k) relates to provisions for individually assessed loans.

How the scope
of our audit
responded to the
key audit matter

Our audit procedures included:

•
•
•
•
•

Key observations

obtaining an understanding of relevant controls relating to both IBNR and individual loan impairment
provisioning;
testing a sample of performing loans to assess whether there is objective evidence that impairment has
arisen and not been identified;
reperforming the IBNR model calculation and challenging a sample of model inputs to assess completeness
and accuracy of data;
challenging the key assumptions applied to estimate the IBNR impairment provision by comparing the
assumptions to historical data and industry information; and
challenging the calculation of the individual provision balances by testing the appropriateness of key inputs
and mathematical accuracy of the calculation.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, we found the company’s assumptions,
judgements and approach to estimating loan impairment provision to be reasonable and therefore we
consider the level of provision to be appropriate.
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6. Our application of materiality
6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the
economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in
planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Materiality

£410,000 (2021: £400,000)

Basis for
determining
materiality

We have used 1% (2021: 1%) of equity as a basis for determining materiality as we considered this to be the
most appropriate. Our approach to determining materiality is consistent with the prior year. We determined
materiality at the planning stage and did not elect adjust materiality based on final equity as this would have
resulted in a higher materiality.

Rationale for the
We consider equity to be the most relevant benchmark for users of the financial statements given that the
benchmark applied company is a regulated bank and a wholly owned subsidiary.

Equity
£41,289k
Materiality
£410k
Audit Committee
reporting threshold £20k

6.2. Performance materiality
We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected
and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole. Performance materiality was
set at 70% of materiality for the 2022 audit (2021: 65%). In determining performance materiality, we considered the
following factors: our risk assessment, including the company’s control environment and our past experience of the audit
which has indicated a low number of corrected and uncorrected misstatements identified in previous years. Given how the
organisation’s operations have responded to the COVID-19 pandemic and the return to more on-premises working, we
have increased performance materiality to 70%, which is consistent with the 2020 audit.

6.3. Error reporting threshold
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the committee all audit differences in excess of £20,000
(2021: £20,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.
We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of
the financial statements.
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7. An overview of the scope of our audit
7.1. Scoping
Our audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the
entity and its environment, including internal control, and
assessing the risks of material misstatement. Audit work to
respond to the risks of material misstatement was
performed directly by the audit engagement team.

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment
We obtained an understanding of the relevant controls in
key business process, including lending, customer deposits,
and loan provisioning. We did not rely on internal controls
in any of the key business processes.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, other than the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information contained within the
annual report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the
financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. E
 xtent to which the audit was considered
capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above,
to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud is detailed below.

11.1. I dentifying and assessing potential risks related
to irregularities
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement
in respect of irregularities, including fraud and noncompliance with laws and regulations, we considered
the following:

•

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities
statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate
the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

•
•

The nature of the industry and sector, control
environment and business performance including the
company’s remuneration policies, key drivers for
directors’ remuneration, bonus levels and performance
targets;
Results of our enquiries of management and the Audit
Committee about their own identification and
assessment of the risks of irregularities;
Any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed
the company’s documentation of their policies and
procedures relating to:

•
•

identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and
regulations and whether they were aware of any
instances of non-compliance;
detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and
whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;
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•
•

the internal controls established to mitigate risks of
fraud or non-compliance with laws and regulations;

The matters discussed among the audit engagement
team and involving relevant internal specialists, including
tax, valuations, regulatory and IT specialists regarding
how and where fraud might occur in the financial
statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a result of these procedures, we considered the
opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential
for fraud in the valuation of loan impairment provisions. In
common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also
required to perform specific procedures to respond to the
risk of management override.
We also obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that the Company operates in,
focusing on provisions of those laws and regulations that
had a direct effect on the determination of material
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements1. The
key laws and regulations we considered in this context
included the UK Companies Act and tax legislation.
In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and
regulations that do not have a direct effect on the financial
statements but compliance with which may be fundamental
to the Company’s ability to operate or to avoid a material
penalty. These included the company’s compliance with the
requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority and
the Financial Conduct Authority.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified the
valuation of loan impairment provisions as a key audit
matter related to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit
matters section of our report explains the matter in more
detail and describes the specific procedures we performed
in response to that key audit matter.
Our procedures to respond to risks identified included
the following:

•
•
•
•

•

Reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing
to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as
having a direct effect on the financial statements;
Enquiring of management, the Audit Committee and
external legal counsel concerning actual and potential
litigation and claims;

In addressing the risk of fraud through management
override of controls, testing the appropriateness of
journal entries and other adjustments; assessing
whether the judgements made in making accounting
estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and
evaluating the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal
course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and
regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members including internal specialists, and remained
alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance with
laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements
12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by
the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit:

•
•

The information given in the strategic report and the
directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and
The strategic report and the directors’ report have been
prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the
company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in
the strategic report or the directors’ report.

13. O
 pinion on other matter prescribed by the
Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country
Reporting) Regulations 2013
In our opinion the information given in note 23 to the
financial statements for the financial year ended 30 April
2022 has been properly prepared, in all material respects,
in accordance with the Capital Requirements (Country-by
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013.

Performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual
or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud;
Reading minutes of meetings of those charged with
governance, reviewing internal audit reports and
reviewing correspondence with the PRA, FCA and
HMRC; and

1 Our responsibility is to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding compliance with the provisions of these laws and regulations.
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14. M
 atters on which we are required to report
by exception
14.1. A
 dequacy of explanations received and
accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report
to you if, in our opinion:

•
•
•

We have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit; or
Adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

16. Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken
so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed.

The financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

14.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to
report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’
remuneration have not been made.

Giles Lang FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
28 July 2022

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.

15. O
 ther matters which we are required
to address
15.1. Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation of the Audit Committee,
we were appointed by the directors on 22 February 2017
to audit the financial statements for the year ending
30 April 2017 and subsequent financial periods. The period
of total uninterrupted engagement including previous
renewals and reappointments of the firm is 6 years,
covering the years ending 30 April 2017 to 30 April 2022.

15.2. C
 onsistency of the audit report with the
additional report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to
the Audit Committee we are required to provide in
accordance with ISAs (UK).
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year ended 30 April 2022

2022
Notes

Interest receivable

3

Interest payable

4

£000

2021
£000

£000

10,823

Net interest income

10,059

(182)

(263)

10,641

9,796

Fees and commissions receivable

2,947

2,230

Fees and commissions payable

(885)

(815)

Net fee income
Net operating income
Administrative expenses
Loan loss provision (charge) / credit

5
10

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

7

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation

£000

2,062

1,415

12,703

11,211

(11,774)

(9,763)

1,100

(533)

2,029

915

(389)

14

1,640

929

There are no recognised gains or losses for either year other than those shown in the profit and loss account above.
All income and expenses for the current and prior year are derived from continuing operations.
The notes on pages 36-44 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 April 2022

2022
Notes

£000

2021
£000

£000

£000

Assets
602,553

417,756

9

7,471

7,897

Loans and advances to customers

10

160,407

124,506

Debt securities

11

777,145

885,876

3,792

4,067

12

4,676

1,194

1,556,044

1,441,296

1,508,937

1,398,146

Balances at Bank of England
Loans and advances to banks

Prepayments and accrued income
Intangible asset
Total assets
Liabilities
Customer accounts

13

Other liabilities

14

Total liabilities

4,178

1,861

1,513,115

1,400,007

Called up share capital

15

29,350

29,350

Additional tier 1 capital

15

11,000

11,000

Distributable reserves

16

2,579

939

Shareholders’ funds

16

Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds

42,929

41,289

1,556,044

1,441,296

The notes on pages 36-44 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 28 July 2022 and signed on
its behalf by

Janet Pope
Chair

Philip Alvey
Chief Finance Officer

CAF Bank Ltd
Company Number 1837656
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 April 2022

Notes

At 30 April 2020

Called–up Additional Tier
share capital
1 securities
£000
£000

29,350

11,000

Distributable
reserve
£000

Profit and
loss account
£000

Total
£000

1,000

–

41,350

–

–

–

929

929

Charitable donation to parent

6

–

–

–

–

–

AT1 dividends payable

8

–

–

–

(990)

29,350

11,000

1,000

(61)

41,289

–

–

–

1,640

1,640

Total comprehensive profit for the financial year

At 30 April 2021
Total comprehensive profit for the financial year

(990)

Charitable donation to parent

6

–

–

–

–

–

AT1 dividends payable

8

–

–

–

–

–

29,350

11,000

1,000

1,579

42,929

At 30 April 2022

The notes on pages 36-44 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 30 April 2022

2022
£000

2021
£000

£000

£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit on ordinary activities

1,640

929

1,170

21,919

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of investments
Decrease in prepayments and accrued income

275

311

Increase in Cash Ratio Deposit with the Bank of England

(918)

(828)

(34,801)

(21,414)

(1,100)

533

Increase in loans and advances to customers
(Decrease)/Increase in loan loss provision
Increase in customer accounts

110,791

241,151

2,317

Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities
Net cash generated from operating activities

(2,150)
79,374

240,451

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions of debt securities

(228,836)

(293,668)

Redemptions of debt securities

336,397

156,956

–

(10,142)

Redemption of repurchase agreements
Acquisition of intangible assets

(3,482)

Net cash from investing activities

(1,194)
104,079

(148,048)

Cash flows from financing activities
Charitable donations paid

–

AT1 dividend paid

–

Net cash from financing activities

(297)
(1,126)
–

(1,423)

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year

183,453

90,980

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

423,358

332,378

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

606,811

423,358

599,340

415,461

Represented by:
Balances at Bank of England repayable on demand (Note 9)
Loans and advances to banks repayable on demand (Note 9)

7,471

7,897

606,811

423,358

The notes on pages 36-44 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 April 2022

1. Accounting policies
1.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom law and UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (UK GAAP), including FRS 102 (as issued by the
Financial Reporting Council, the Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland).

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the
reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses are recognised when it
is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end
and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing
difference.

1.5 Basic financial instruments

Where information in the risk management report on pages
18 to 22 is identified as audited, it is incorporated into these
financial statements by this cross reference and is covered
by the independent auditors report on pages 26 to 31.

Loans and advances to banks comprise the Bank’s cleared
and uncleared balances held at HSBC and deposits with an
original maturity of three years or less. These are stated at
amortised cost.

The going concern basis was adopted in preparing the
annual report and accounts as described on page 24.

Interest-bearing loans are recognised initially at the present
value of future payments discounted at a market rate of
interest. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
loans are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment losses.

1.2	Interest and fee income and expenditure
recognition
Income is recognised once the Bank has entitlement to the
income, it is probable that the income will be received and
the amount can be measured reliably.

(a) Interest income
Interest receivable on financial assets is recognised using
the effective interest method over the expected life of the
financial asset. Loan arrangement fees are recognised using
the effective interest method over the expected life of the loan.

(b) Fee Income
Non-utilisation fees on undrawn loans are recognised as
income in the period they are earned.

(c) Expenditure recognition
Expenditure is recognised as soon as there is a legal or
constructive obligation to make a payment to a third party,
it is probable that settlement will be required and the
amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

Debt securities held for investment purposes are held to
redemption at par and recognised initially at transaction
price less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment
losses. The amortisation of premiums or discounts is
included in interest income in the profit and loss account.
Interest receivable on interest-bearing loans and debt
securities is recognised on an accruals basis using the
effective interest rate method.
When securities are sold subject to a commitment to
repurchase them at a predetermined price (‘repos’), they
remain on the balance sheet and a liability is recorded in
respect of the consideration received. Repos are measured
at amortised cost. The difference between the sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest and recognised in net
interest income over the life of the agreement.

Irrecoverable VAT is charged as a cost.

Debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after
any discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the
amount prepaid.

1.3 Pension costs

Customer account balances represent the value of deposits
by account holders and are recorded as liabilities.

All staff are employed by CAF. The Bank is recharged by
CAF for the cost of defined contribution personal pension
arrangements.
The amount charged to the profit and loss account in
respect of pension costs is the contribution payable in the
year. Differences between contributions payable and the
year end contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

1.4	Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax, is provided at
amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax
rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.

Creditors are recognised where there is a present obligation
resulting from a past event that will probably result in a
transfer of funds to a third party and the amount due to
settle the obligation can be measured or estimated reliably.
Creditors are normally recognised at their settlement
amount after allowing for any discounts due.
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.
Further details of the terms and conditions of the additional
Tier 1 securities, which are classified as equity, can be found
in note 15.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.6 Impairment of financial assets

1.8 Significant estimates and judgements

Financial assets including loans are assessed at each
reporting date to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence can include
default or delinquency by a borrower, restructuring of a
loan or advance on terms the Bank would otherwise not
consider, indications that a borrower or issuer may become
insolvent, or a reduction in marketability of security.

The preparation of the Bank’s financial statements require
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expense.

The Bank considers evidence for impairment for loans and
advances (including on-demand commitments) at both
specific and collective level. If there is evidence of
impairment leading to an impairment loss for an individual
counterparty relationship, then the amount of the loss is
determined as the difference between the carrying amount
of the loan, including accrued interest, and the estimated
recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is
measured as the present value of expected future cash
flows discounted at the loan’s original effective interest
rate, including cash flows that may result from foreclosure
less costs for obtaining and selling collateral. The carrying
amount of the loan is reduced by the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the
profit and loss account.
If the Bank determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. For the purposes of a collective
evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on
the basis of similar risk characteristics, taking into account
collateral type and other relevant factors. These
characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash
flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the
counterparty’s ability to pay all amounts due according to
the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on the
basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Bank
and loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to those in the Bank. In addition, the
Bank uses its judgement to estimate the amount of an
impairment loss, supported by historical loss experience
data for similar assets. The use of such judgements and
reasonable estimates is considered by management to be
an essential part of the process.

1.7 Intangible asset
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis and charged to the
profit and loss over the asset’s estimated economic life,
12 years, in the case of our new core banking system.
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment at each
balance sheet date.
External spend to suppliers relates to software and system
development. This is capitalised as the recognition criteria
is always satisfied for assets that are separately acquired.
All other costs are recognised in the profit and loss when
incurred.

Estimates
Specific provisions for impaired assets involve estimating
the valuation of properties held as security, the time taken
to sell property, and costs of holding and selling property.
Given the subjective nature of such judgments there may
be changes to these estimates that could result in a
material adjustment in the next financial year.
Estimation uncertainty also relates to the collective loan
loss provision. To determine the collective provision,
assumptions are made about variables including the
probability of default, the loss given default and the loss
emergence period. These variables are based on historical
loss experience data for similar assets. Estimations are
made with regards to the expected future cash flows
relating to the sale of the security, with judgement required
(consistent with for specific provisions) of the valuation of
properties held as security and the costs of holding and
selling property.
Total loan loss provisions were £1,078k at 30 April 2022
(2021: £2,178k), with the analysis between specific and
collective provisions disclosed note 10.

1.9 Significant estimates and judgements
The key variables in the measurement of provisions are:

•

•

•

•

Gross property valuation: our provision estimates are
based on the most recent valuation, indexed where
relevant to current values. If estimates of property
valuations were to reduce by 10%, an additional £850k
loan loss provision would be required; if valuations
increased by 10%, the provision would be reduced
by £540k.
Discount to gross property valuation: for commercial
and specialist properties held as security, our estimates
assume a 38% to the most recent open market valuation
to reflect the sale of a foreclosed property in an
acceptable timeframe. If this 38% discount was reduced
to 25% on commercial and specialist properties, total
loan loss provisions would reduce by £496k; if the
discount increased to 45%, provisions would increase
by £436k.
Costs to sell: we estimate legal, administrative and
marketing costs of between 10% and 20% of the gross
property valuation are incurred in disposing of the
property, based on historic precedent and the type of
property. If these costs were 5% higher, loan loss
provisions would increase by £391k; if selling costs were
5% lower, provisions would be £306k lower.
Probability of default: the collective loan loss provision
is based on assessing our lending portfolio against the
criteria used by external rating agencies, and using the
corresponding historical probabilities of default (‘PDs’).
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1.9 Significant estimates and judgements (continued)
If estimated PDs were 50% higher, additional loan loss
provisions of £451k would be required; if PDs were 50%
lower, provisions would reduce by £451k.

Other judgements
The Bank’s credit risk team exercises judgement when
determining triggers to monitor the underlying performance
of a loan. This judgement could result in a loan being added
to the “watch list” and an impairment provision being
required when a loss event is deemed to have occurred.

2. Segmental information
The Bank carries on one principal class of business, being
that of banking, and operates in one geographical segment,
the United Kingdom.

3. Interest receivable
Interest receivable and similar income
arising from debt securities
Other interest receivable and
similar income

2022
£000

2021
£000

5,588

6,290

5,235

3,769

10,823

10,059

2022
£000

2021
£000

182

212

4. Interest payable
Customer accounts
Repurchase agreements

–

51

182

263

Creditors include £33,203 (2021: £36,000) in respect of
pension contributions payable.
The average number of total employees analysed by
function was:
2022
£000

Management
Administration

2021
£000

Staff costs
Wages and salaries

5,846

Indirect staff costs
Management charges

551

392

Other pension costs

410

324

6,807

4,884

4,967

4,879

11,774

9,763

Other administrative expenses

17
95

141

112

2022
£000

2021
£000

1,149

1,568

549

524

1,698

2,092

Directors’ emoluments
None of the Directors who served during the year were
remunerated directly by the Bank (2020/21: none). During
the year, the Bank reimbursed CAF with £445,900 (2020/21:
£358,317) including pension contributions in respect of
services rendered by two Executive Directors (2020/21:
two). No amounts were paid to third parties for directors’
services (2020/21: none). The total remuneration of the
highest paid Director during the year was £258,370
(2020/21: £224,951). Non-Executive Directors were not
remunerated.
Auditor’s remuneration
Auditor’s remuneration included in administrative expenses
consists of the following:

Audit fees payable to the company’s
auditor for the audit of the company’s
financial statements

4,168

Social security costs

21
120

Other administrative expenses include the following
amounts paid to CAF in respect of directors’ emoluments,
other costs of staff partially allocated to duties relating to
CAF Bank, and management charges relating principally to
the occupancy of premises and the use of systems
equipment. Information systems staff costs are included in
indirect staff costs (below).

5. Administrative expenses
2022
£000

2021
£000

2022
£000

2021
£000

148

153

148

153

All staff are employed by CAF. Total employment costs
are recharged where activities have been undertaken for
CAF Bank. Staff costs (above) represent 141 (2021: 112)
employees of CAF who were assigned wholly to duties
relating to the activities of the Bank.
CAF Bank Ltd | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending 30 April 2022

38

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. Charitable donation to parent

8. AT1 dividends payable

The Bank has not accrued a donation to CAF at
30 April 2022 (30 April 2021: none).
AT1 dividends payable

7. Tax on profit on ordinary activities
The tax assessed for the period is higher than that
resulting from applying the standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK: 19% (2020/21: 19%). The differences are
explained below.
2022
£000

2021
£000

389

(14)

Reconciliation to tax expense:
Profit on ordinary activities before tax
at 19%

386

174

Disallowed expenditure

1

–

AT1 dividends payable

–

(188)

Deferred tax - Origination and reversal
of timing differences
Deferred tax - Impact of change in tax
rate
Tax (credit) / charge

(35)
37

–
(14)

–

990

–

990

9. Loans and advances to banks
2022
£000

2021
£000

Repayable on demand

7,471

7,897

Loans and advances to banks

7,471

7,897

Balances at Bank of England –
Reserve account

599,340

415,461

Balances at Bank of England –
Cash ratio deposit

–

389

2021
£000

No AT1 dividends are payable to ensure adequate capital
position is maintained as the Bank’s transformation
programme progresses.

Tax expense:
UK corporation tax

2022
£000
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10. Loans and advances to customers
2022

Charity
£000

Social
Purpose
Projects

2021

£000

Overdrafts
£000

Total
£000

Charity
£000

1,448

134

493

2,075

Social
Purpose
Projects
£000

Overdrafts
£000

Total
£000

1,162

756

249

2,167

Remaining maturity of loans
and advances
Repayable within 3 months
Repayable within 5 years
Repayable over 5 years

32,472

1,816

34,288

25,859

4,358

–

30,217

126,569

–

126,569

95,553

–

–

95,553

160,489

1,950

162,932

122,574

5,114

249

127,937

493

Loan loss provision

(1,024)

(54)

–

(1,078)

(2,031)

(147)

–

(2,178)

Deferred income

(1,409)

(38)

–

(1,447)

(1,195)

(58)

–

(1,253)

119,348

4,909

249

124,506

2022
£000

2021
£000

Unamortised premiums

158,055

1,859

493

160,407

Individual impairments provision
Loan loss provision at 1 May

(1,376)

(938)

Released during the year

1,200

539

–

Provided during the year

(977)

(176)

Loan loss provision at 30 April

(1,376)

Collective impairments provision
Loan loss provision at 1 May

2022
£000

2021
£000

(802)

(707)

–

Released during the year

–

Provided during the year

(100)

(95)

Loan loss provision at 30 April

(902)

(802)

11. Debt securities
11.1 Investments
2022

2021

Book Value Market Value
£000
£000

Book Value
£000

Market Value
£000

Listed:
Multilateral financial institutions

679,925

663,350

758,564

760,657

23,723

22,508

24,093

24,399

Fixed coupon corporate bonds

63,497

63,978

83,398

84,458

767,145

749,836

866,055

869,514

10,000

9,922

19,821

19,983

777,145

759,758

885,876

889,497

Floating rate corporate bonds
Unlisted:
Certificates of deposit
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11. Debt securities (continued)
11.2 Maturity
2022
Book Value
£000

2021
Book Value
£000

less than 6 months

41,951

98,024

6 months to 1 year

65,911

238,470

1 year to 5 years
5 years and over

107,862

336,494

631,372

442,742

739,234

779,236

37,911

106,640

777,145

885,876

(2,484)

Unamortised premiums

(4,203)

Premiums or discounts on investments held to maturity are amortised over their remaining lives.

11.3 Movements
Cost
£000

At 1 May 2021

889,407

Amortisation
£000

(3,531)

Book Value
£000

885,876

Acquisitions

228,836

(46)

228,790

Redemptions

(339,197)

2,800

(336,397)

Amortisation

–

(1,124)

(1,124)

779,046

(1,901)

774,145

At 30 April 2022

12. Intangible asset
Development cost
£000

At 1 May 2021

1,194

Additions

3,482

Amortisation

–

At 30 April 2022

4,676

Development costs are associated with the development costs of a banking system currently expected to be available for
use in late 2023. They have been capitalised in accordance with FRS 102 Section 18, Intangible Assets other than Goodwill.
They are therefore not treated, for distributable reserve assessment under the Companies Act 2006, as a realised loss.
Costs relate to amounts paid to suppliers for the development of the new system.

13. Customer accounts
2022
£000

Repayable on demand
Repayable within 30 days

2021
£000

1,493,379 1,380,980
15,558

17,166

1,508,937

1,398,146

1,301

1,289

Amounts include:
Amounts owed to CAF

Amounts owed to CAF include current account balances payable on demand.

CAF Bank Ltd | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending 30 April 2022

41

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. Other liabilities
2022
£000

2021
£000

674

794

3,115

1,064

236

3

4,025

1,861

153

0

4,178

1,861

Amounts due within one year:
Amounts owed to CAF
Sundry creditors
Taxation
Amounts due after more than one year:
Deferred tax

Amounts owed to CAF include invoices for both direct and indirect costs payable on demand.

15. Called up share capital and additional tier 1 securities
2022

2021

Number

£000

Number

£000

Ordinary shares of £1 each

29,350,000

29,350

29,350,000

29,350

Additional Tier 1 securities of £1 each

11,000,000

11,000

11,000,000

11,000

Allotted, issued and fully paid:

40,350

40,350

There was no additional capital issued during the year. The principal terms of the AT1 capital are as follows:

•
•
•
•

Perpetual, repayable at CAF Bank’s election after 5 years with the prior consent of the PRA;
Non-cumulative 9% per annum coupon, cancellable at the discretion of the CAF Bank Board;
Irrevocable conversion to voting ordinary shares either at a trigger level of 7% Common Equity Tier 1 capital, or at such
time as the CAF Bank Board considers it reasonably foreseeable that a trigger event will occur;
In the event of conversion, £1 par value of AT1 capital will convert to £1 nominal value of ordinary share capital, such
ordinary shares being identical to existing ordinary shares in all respects.

We are seeking the PRA’s consent to exchange all the Bank’s AT1 capital for ordinary shares of the same nominal value.
This will strengthen the Bank’s CET1 capital position.

16. Reconciliation of shareholders’ funds
Called–up
share capital
£000

Additional
Tier 1
securities
£000

Distributable
reserve
£000

29,350

11,000

1,000

At 1 May 2021
Movement during the year
At 30 April 2022

Profit
and loss
account
£000

(61)

–

–

–

1,640

29,350

11,000

1,000

1,579

Distributable reserve was created as part of CAF Bank’s issuance of AT1 capital.
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17. Financial instruments
17.1 Market and interest rate risk
Market and interest rate risk is described on page 21.

17.2 Currency profile
The Bank has an exposure in US dollars equivalent to £404k (2020/21: £367k) held as a collateral deposit for the Bank’s
Mastercard operations. Other than this exposure all assets and liabilities are denominated in sterling.

17.3 Instruments held for trading
None of the Bank’s financial instruments are held for trading purposes and no trading book is held.

17.4 Investments held to maturity
The Bank’s policy is to hold investment securities to redemption at par (note 1.5). The impact of any movements in interest
rates on fixed rate instruments is therefore not anticipated to affect the Bank’s profits.

17.5 Hedging
CAF Bank does not hold financial instruments for hedging purposes.

17.6 Fair values
Set out below is a comparison of all the Bank’s financial instruments by category. Market values have been used to
determine fair values of debt securities listed on a recognised UK exchange (note 11).
2022

Assets
Balances at central banks

2021

Book Value
£000

Fair Value
£000

Book Value
£000

Fair Value
£000

602,553

602,553

417,756

417,756

7,471

7,471

7,897

7,897

Debt securities

777,145

759,758

885,876

889,497

Loans and advances to customers

160,407

160,407

124,506

124,506

Loans and advances to banks

1,547,576 1,530,189
Customer accounts

1,436,035 1,439,656

1,508,937 1,508,937

1,398,146

1,398,146

1,508,937 1,508,937

1,398,146

1,398,146

18. Contingent liabilities
A supplier has made a £1.9m demand for additional licenses which it claims the Bank has been using. Having taken legal
advice, the Bank refutes this claim. Any potential settlement could be between nil and the full amount of the claim.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19. Off-balance sheet commitments
Commitments comprise amounts yet to be drawn under loan or overdraft agreements.
2022
£000

Undrawn overdraft commitments
Undrawn charity loan commitments
Undrawn personal loan commitments

2021
£000

382

676

19,373

32,263

2,853

3,840

22,608

36,779

20. Parent trust
Charities Aid Foundation (CAF), registered charity number 268369, is the immediate and ultimate parent and controlling
party of CAF Bank (registered office: 25 Kings Hill Avenue, Kings Hill, West Malling, ME19 4TA).
The largest and only entity into which CAF Bank is consolidated is CAF. A copy of CAF’s consolidated financial statements
can be obtained from the Bank’s registered office and at www.cafonline.org.

21. Related party transactions
CAF Bank has taken advantage of exemptions available under section 33 of FRS 102 not to disclose transactions with other
group entities.

22. Post balance sheet events
There are no events since the balance sheet date that are required for, or to be disclosed.

23. Country by country reporting
The Capital Requirements (Country by Country Reporting) Regulations came into effect on 1 January 2014 and place certain
reporting obligations on financial institutions within CRD IV.
The activities of the Bank are described in the Strategic Report. All of the Bank’s activities are carried out in the United Kingdom.

Number of employees (average)

Turnover (total income)

2022
UK

2021
UK

141

112

£000

£000

12,703

11,211

2,029

915

Corporation tax paid

–

–

Public subsidies received

–

–

Profit before tax
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Registered Office

Audit Committee

Bankers

25 Kings Hill Avenue

David Watts (Chair)

HSBC Bank plc

Kings Hill

Kees Diepstraten

City of London Branch

West Malling

Mairi Johnstone

60 Queen Victoria Street
London EC4N 4TR

Kent, ME19 4JQ
United Kingdom

Board Risk and Compliance
Committee

Telephone: 03000 123 456

Astrid Grey (Chair)

Fax: 03000 123 600
Email: cafbank@cafonline.org

Samantha Seaton
Graham Toy

www.cafonline.org/caf-bank

David Watts

Company Number

Nominations and
Remuneration Committee

1837656
Directors (at 30 April 2022)
Non-Executive Directors
Janet Pope (Chair)
Astrid Grey (Deputy Chair)
Martyn Beauchamp
Kees Diepstraten
Neil Heslop (CAF Chief Executive)
Mairi Johnstone
Samantha Seaton
Graham Toy

Janet Pope (Chair)
Mairi Johnstone
Neil Heslop (CAF Chief Executive)

Nominee and Custodian
HSBC Securities Services
Level 29
8 Canada Square
London E14 5HQ
Auditors
Deloitte LLP
2 New Street Square
London EC4A 3BZ

Alison Taylor (Chief Executive Officer)
Executive Committee
Alison Taylor (Chief Executive Officer)
Philip Alvey (Chief Finance Officer)
Robert Camp (Chief Information Officer)
Alison Carpenter (Chief Risk Officer)
Dina Henry (Chief Operating Officer)

David Watts
Executive Directors
Alison Taylor (Chief Executive Officer)
Philip Alvey (Chief Finance Officer)
Company Secretary
Kate Mayor

CAF Bank Limited is authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and
regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation
Authority. It is a subsidiary of Charities Aid Foundation (CAF), registered
charity number 268369. Copies of the accounts of CAF may be obtained from
the Bank’s registered office and at www.cafonline.org
CAF Bank Ltd | Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ending 30 April 2022

45

CAF BANK LTD
Registered office
25 Kings Hill Avenue
Kings Hill
West Malling
Kent ME19 4JQ
Telephone: +44 (0)3000 123 456
Email: cafbank@cafonline.org
www.cafonline.org/caf-bank

Company Registration No: 1837656 (England and Wales)

